

HOUSE BILL NO. 643

INTRODUCED BY DOWELL, ROBERTS, MCALPIN, WARD, WANZENRIED

A BILL FOR AN ACT ENTITLED: "AN ACT PROHIBITING SMOKING IN ALL PUBLIC SCHOOLS AND IN ALL PLACES WHERE THE PUBLIC IS FREE TO ENTER, INCLUDING BUILDINGS OWNED OR OCCUPIED BY POLITICAL SUBDIVISIONS; PROVIDING LEGISLATIVE INTENT AND PURPOSE; PROVIDING EXCEPTIONS; REQUIRING THE POSTING OF SIGNS INFORMING PERSONS OF THE SMOKING PROHIBITION; PROVIDING FOR ENFORCEMENT; REQUIRING RULEMAKING BY THE DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES; ALLOWING ADOPTION OF A STRICTER ORDINANCE OR REGULATION BY A POLITICAL SUBDIVISION AFTER SEPTEMBER 30, 2009; ESTABLISHING PENALTIES; AMENDING SECTIONS 20-1-220, 50-40-102, 50-40-103, 50-40-104, 50-40-108, AND 50-40-201, MCA; ~~AND~~ REPEALING SECTIONS 7-1-120, 50-40-105, 50-40-106, 50-40-107, 50-40-109, 50-40-202, 50-40-203, AND 50-40-207, MCA; AND PROVIDING A TERMINATION DATE."

WHEREAS, NUMEROUS STUDIES HAVE FOUND THAT TOBACCO SMOKE IS A MAJOR CONTRIBUTOR TO INDOOR AIR POLLUTION AND THAT BREATHING SECONDHAND SMOKE, ALSO KNOWN AS ENVIRONMENTAL TOBACCO SMOKE, IS A CAUSE OF DISEASE IN HEALTHY NONSMOKERS, INCLUDING DISEASES SUCH AS HEART DISEASE, STROKE, RESPIRATORY DISEASE, AND LUNG CANCER; AND

WHEREAS, THE NATIONAL CANCER INSTITUTE DETERMINED IN 1999 THAT SECONDHAND SMOKE IS RESPONSIBLE FOR THE EARLY DEATHS OF UP TO 65,000 AMERICANS ANNUALLY; AND

WHEREAS, THE NATIONAL TOXICOLOGY PROGRAM OF THE U.S. DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES HAS LISTED SECONDHAND SMOKE AS A KNOWN CARCINOGEN; AND

WHEREAS, A STUDY OF HOSPITAL ADMISSIONS FOR ACUTE MYOCARDIAL INFARCTION IN HELENA, MONTANA, BEFORE, DURING, AND AFTER A LOCAL ORDINANCE ELIMINATING SMOKING IN WORKPLACES AND PUBLIC PLACES WAS IN EFFECT, HAS DETERMINED THAT LAWS TO ENFORCE SMOKE-FREE WORKPLACES AND PUBLIC PLACES MAY BE ASSOCIATED WITH A REDUCTION IN MORBIDITY FROM HEART DISEASE; AND

WHEREAS, THE U.S. SURGEON GENERAL HAS DETERMINED THAT THE SIMPLE SEPARATION OF SMOKERS AND NONSMOKERS WITHIN THE SAME AIR SPACE MAY REDUCE, BUT DOES NOT ELIMINATE, THE EXPOSURE OF NONSMOKERS TO SECONDHAND SMOKE; AND

WHEREAS, THE ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY HAS DETERMINED, AS OF THE INTRODUCTION DATE

1 OF THIS BILL, THAT SECONDHAND SMOKE CANNOT BE REDUCED TO SAFE LEVELS IN BUSINESSES BY HIGH RATES OF
 2 VENTILATION AND THAT AIR CLEANERS, WHICH ARE ONLY CAPABLE OF FILTERING THE PARTICULATE MATTER AND ODORS
 3 IN SMOKE, DO NOT ELIMINATE THE KNOWN TOXINS IN SECONDHAND SMOKE; AND

4 WHEREAS, IT HAS BEEN DETERMINED BY THE CENTERS FOR DISEASE CONTROL AND PREVENTION THAT THE
 5 RISK OF ACUTE MYOCARDIAL INFARCTION AND CORONARY HEART DISEASE ASSOCIATED WITH EXPOSURE TO TOBACCO
 6 SMOKE IS NONLINEAR AT LOW DOSES, INCREASING RAPIDLY WITH RELATIVELY SMALL DOSES, SUCH AS THOSE RECEIVED
 7 FROM SECONDHAND SMOKE OR ACTIVELY SMOKING ONE OR TWO CIGARETTES A DAY; AND

8 WHEREAS, THE CENTERS FOR DISEASE CONTROL AND PREVENTION WARNS THAT ALL PATIENTS AT INCREASED
 9 RISK OF CORONARY HEART DISEASE OR WITH KNOWN CORONARY ARTERY DISEASE SHOULD AVOID ALL INDOOR
 10 ENVIRONMENTS THAT PERMIT SMOKING; AND

11 WHEREAS, NUMEROUS ECONOMIC ANALYSES EXAMINING RESTAURANT AND HOTEL RECEIPTS AND CONTROLLING
 12 FOR ECONOMIC VARIABLES HAVE SHOWN EITHER NO DIFFERENCE OR A POSITIVE ECONOMIC IMPACT AFTER ENACTMENT
 13 OF LAWS REQUIRING WORKPLACES TO BE SMOKE-FREE; AND

14 WHEREAS, SMOKING IS A POTENTIAL CAUSE OF FIRES, AND CIGARETTE AND CIGAR BURNS AND ASH STAINS ON
 15 MERCHANDISE AND FIXTURES CAUSE ECONOMIC DAMAGE TO BUSINESSES; AND

16 WHEREAS, CREATION OF SMOKE-FREE WORKPLACES IS SOUND ECONOMIC POLICY AND PROVIDES THE MAXIMUM
 17 LEVEL OF EMPLOYEE HEALTH AND SAFETY.

18

19 BE IT ENACTED BY THE LEGISLATURE OF THE STATE OF MONTANA:

20

21 **Section 1.** Section 20-1-220, MCA, is amended to read:

22 **"20-1-220. Use of tobacco product in public school building or on public school property**
 23 **prohibited.** (1) An individual may not use a tobacco product in a public school building or on public school
 24 property during school hours.

25 (2) Subsection (1) does not apply to the use of a tobacco product:

26 (a) in a classroom or on other school property as part of a lecture, demonstration, or educational forum
 27 sanctioned by a school administrator or faculty member concerning the risks associated with use of a tobacco
 28 product;

29 ~~(b) as a part of a play, performance, or other theatrical event sanctioned by a school administrator or~~
 30 ~~faculty member; or~~

1 ~~(c) after school hours by persons in a tobacco, alcohol, or drug rehabilitation, counseling, or control~~
 2 ~~group using school facilities for a meeting or event that is in furtherance of the group's goals and that is~~
 3 ~~sanctioned by a school administrator or other public official; or~~

4 ~~(d) by nonstudent adults in any area designated as a smoking area by the school administrator or by~~
 5 ~~the board of trustees of the school district.~~

6 (3) The principal of an elementary or secondary school, or the principal's designee, may enforce this
 7 section.

8 (4) A VIOLATION OF THIS SECTION IS SUBJECT TO THE PENALTIES PROVIDED IN [SECTION 8].

9 ~~(4)~~(5) For the purposes of this section, the following definitions apply:

10 (a) "Public school building or public school property":

11 (i) means public land, fixtures, buildings, or other property owned or occupied by an institution for the
 12 teaching of minor children that is established and maintained under the laws of the state of Montana at public
 13 expense; and

14 (ii) includes school playgrounds, school steps, parking lots, administration buildings, athletic facilities,
 15 gymnasiums, locker rooms, and school buses.

16 (b) "Tobacco product" means a substance intended for human consumption that contains tobacco,
 17 including cigarettes, cigars, snuff, smoking tobacco, and smokeless tobacco."
 18

19 **Section 2.** Section 50-40-102, MCA, is amended to read:

20 **"50-40-102. Intent -- purpose.** ~~The legislature, mindful of its constitutional obligations under Article II,~~
 21 ~~section 3, and Article IX of the Montana constitution, has enacted the Montana Clean Indoor Air Act of 1979. It~~
 22 ~~is the legislature's intent that the requirements of this part provide adequate remedies for the protection of the~~
 23 ~~environmental life support system. The purpose of this part is to protect the health of nonsmokers in public~~
 24 ~~places and to provide for reserved areas in some public places for those who choose to smoke. (1) The~~
 25 ~~legislature finds and declares that:~~

26 ~~_____ (a) numerous studies have found that tobacco smoke is a major contributor to indoor air pollution and~~
 27 ~~that breathing secondhand smoke, also known as environmental tobacco smoke, is a cause of disease in~~
 28 ~~healthy nonsmokers, including diseases such as heart disease, stroke, respiratory disease, and lung cancer.~~
 29 ~~The national cancer institute determined in 1999 that secondhand smoke is responsible for the early deaths of~~
 30 ~~up to 65,000 Americans annually.~~

1 ~~—— (b) the U.S. department of health and human service's national toxicology program has listed~~
2 ~~secondhand smoke as a known carcinogen;~~

3 ~~—— (c) a study of hospital admissions for acute myocardial infarction in Helena, Montana, before, during,~~
4 ~~and after a local ordinance eliminating smoking in workplaces and public places was in effect, has determined~~
5 ~~that laws to enforce smoke-free workplaces and public places may be associated with a reduction in morbidity~~
6 ~~from heart disease;~~

7 ~~—— (d) secondhand smoke is particularly hazardous to elderly people, individuals with cardiovascular~~
8 ~~disease, and individuals with impaired respiratory function, including asthmatics and those with obstructive~~
9 ~~airway disease. Children exposed to secondhand smoke have an increased risk of asthma, respiratory~~
10 ~~infections, sudden infant death syndrome, developmental abnormalities, and cancer.~~

11 ~~—— (e) The Americans With Disabilities Act of 1990, which requires that disabled persons have access to~~
12 ~~workplaces and public places, considers impaired respiratory function to be a disability;~~

13 ~~—— (f) the U.S. surgeon general has determined that the simple separation of smokers and nonsmokers~~
14 ~~within the same air space may reduce, but does not eliminate, the exposure of nonsmokers to secondhand~~
15 ~~smoke. The environmental protection agency has determined that secondhand smoke cannot be reduced to safe~~
16 ~~levels in businesses by high rates of ventilation. Air cleaners, which are only capable of filtering the particulate~~
17 ~~matter and odors in smoke, do not eliminate the known toxins in secondhand smoke.~~

18 ~~—— (g) It has been determined by the centers for disease control and prevention that the risk of acute~~
19 ~~myocardial infarction and coronary heart disease associated with exposure to tobacco smoke is nonlinear at low~~
20 ~~doses, increasing rapidly with relatively small doses, such as those received from secondhand smoke or actively~~
21 ~~smoking one or two cigarettes a day, and the centers for disease control and prevention warns that all patients~~
22 ~~at increased risk of coronary heart disease or with known coronary artery disease should avoid all indoor~~
23 ~~environments that permit smoking;~~

24 ~~—— (h) a significant amount of secondhand smoke exposure occurs in the workplace. Employees who work~~
25 ~~in smoke-filled businesses suffer a 25% to 50% higher risk of heart attack and higher rates of death from~~
26 ~~cardiovascular disease and cancer, as well as increased acute respiratory disease and measurable decrease~~
27 ~~in lung function;~~

28 ~~—— (i) smoke-filled workplaces result in higher worker absenteeism due to respiratory disease, lower~~
29 ~~productivity, higher cleaning and maintenance costs, increased health insurance rates, and increased liability~~
30 ~~claims for diseases related to exposure to secondhand smoke;~~

1 ~~_____ (j) numerous economic analyses examining restaurant and hotel receipts and controlling for economic~~
 2 ~~variables have shown either no difference or a positive economic impact after enactment of laws requiring~~
 3 ~~workplaces to be smoke-free. Creation of smoke-free workplaces is sound economic policy and provides the~~
 4 ~~maximum level of employee health and safety.~~

5 ~~_____ (k) smoking is a potential cause of fires, and cigarette and cigar burns and ash stains on merchandise~~
 6 ~~and fixtures cause economic damage to businesses.~~

7 ~~_____ (2) Accordingly, the~~ THE legislature finds and declares that the purposes of this part are as follows:

8 ~~(a)(1) to protect the public health and welfare by prohibiting smoking in public places and places of~~
 9 ~~employment;~~

10 ~~(b)(2) to guarantee~~ RECOGNIZE the right of nonsmokers to breathe smoke-free air; and

11 ~~(c)(3) to recognize that the need to breathe smoke-free air has priority over the desire to smoke."~~

12

13 **Section 3.** Section 50-40-103, MCA, is amended to read:

14 **"50-40-103. Definitions.** As used in this part, the following definitions apply:

15 ~~(1) "BAR" MEANS AN ESTABLISHMENT WITH A LICENSE ISSUED PURSUANT TO TITLE 16, CHAPTER 4, THAT IS~~
 16 ~~DEVOTED TO SERVING ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGES FOR CONSUMPTION BY GUESTS OR PATRONS ON THE PREMISES AND IN~~
 17 ~~WHICH THE SERVING OF FOOD IS ONLY INCIDENTAL TO THE SERVICE OF ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGES OR GAMBLING~~
 18 ~~OPERATIONS, INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO TAVERNS, NIGHT CLUBS, COCKTAIL LOUNGES, AND CASINOS.~~

19 ~~(1)(2) "Department" means the department of public health and human services provided for in~~
 20 ~~2-15-2201.~~

21 ~~(2)(3) "Enclosed public place" means an indoor area, room, or vehicle used by that the general public~~
 22 ~~is allowed to enter or serving that serves as a place of work, including but not limited to the following:~~

23 ~~(a) restaurants;~~

24 ~~(b) stores;~~

25 ~~(c) public and private office buildings and offices, including all office buildings and offices of political~~
 26 ~~subdivisions, as provided for in 50-40-201, and state government;~~

27 ~~(d) trains, buses, and other forms of public transportation;~~

28 ~~educational or~~

29 ~~(e) health care facilities;~~

30 ~~(f) auditoriums, arenas, and assembly facilities; and~~

1 (g) meeting rooms open to the public;

2 (h) bars and taverns;

3 (i) community college facilities;

4 (j) facilities of the Montana university system; and

5 (k) public schools, as provided for in 20-1-220 and 50-40-104.

6 ~~(3)~~(4) "Establishment" means an enterprise under one roof that serves the public and for which a single
7 person, agency, corporation, or legal entity is responsible.

8 (5) "INCIDENTAL TO THE SERVICE OF ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGES OR GAMBLING OPERATIONS" MEANS THAT AT LEAST
9 60% OF THE BUSINESS'S ANNUAL GROSS INCOME COMES FROM THE SALE OF ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGES OR GAMBLING
10 RECEIPTS, OR BOTH.

11 ~~(4)~~(6) "Person" means an individual, partnership, corporation, association, political subdivision, or other
12 entity.

13 ~~(5)~~(7) "Place of work" means an enclosed room where ~~more than one employee or more individuals~~
14 ~~works work.~~

15 ~~(6)~~(8) "Smoking" or "to smoke" includes the act of lighting, smoking, or carrying a lighted cigar, cigarette,
16 pipe, or any smokable product.

17 ~~(7) "Smoking area" means a designated area in which smoking is permitted."~~

18

19 **Section 4.** Section 50-40-104, MCA, is amended to read:

20 **"50-40-104. Designation or reservation of smoking or nonsmoking areas -- notice Smoking in**
21 **enclosed public places prohibited -- notice to public -- places where prohibition inapplicable. (1) Except**
22 **as otherwise provided in this section, smoking in an enclosed public place is prohibited.**

23 ~~(1) The proprietor or manager of an enclosed public place shall:~~

24 ~~—— (a) designate nonsmoking areas with easily readable signs;~~

25 ~~—— (b) reserve a part of the public place for nonsmokers and post easily readable signs designating a~~
26 ~~smoking area;~~

27 ~~—— (c) designate the entire area as a smoking area by posting a sign that is clearly visible to the public~~
28 ~~stating this designation; or~~

29 ~~—— (d) designate and reserve the entire area as a nonsmoking area.~~

30 (2) The proprietor or manager of an establishment containing enclosed public places shall post a sign

1 in a conspicuous place at all public entrances to the establishment stating, in a manner that can be easily read
 2 and understood, ~~whether or not areas within the establishment have been reserved for nonsmokers~~ that smoking
 3 in the enclosed public place is prohibited.

4 ~~(3) The proprietor or manager of an establishment containing both a restaurant and a tavern, in which~~
 5 ~~some patrons choose to eat their meals in the tavern, is not required by this part to post a sign described in~~
 6 ~~subsection (2) in the tavern area of the establishment.~~

7 ~~(4)(3) The proprietor or manager of an intrastate bus that is not chartered shall prohibit smoking in all~~
 8 ~~parts of the bus.~~

9 ~~(4) THE PROPRIETOR OR MANAGER OF A BUSINESS LICENSED UNDER 23-5-611(1)(A) OR (1)(C) MAY NOT ALLOW~~
 10 ~~ANY MEMBER OF THE PUBLIC WHO IS UNDER 18 YEARS OF AGE TO BE PRESENT IN ANY AREA OF THE ESTABLISHMENT IN~~
 11 ~~WHICH SMOKING IS PERMITTED.~~

12 ~~(4)(5) The prohibition in subsection (1) does not apply to the following places, whether or not the public~~
 13 ~~is allowed access to those places:~~

14 ~~(A) UNTIL SEPTEMBER 30, 2009, BARS, PROVIDED THAT SMOKE FROM THE BAR DOES NOT INFILTRATE INTO~~
 15 ~~AREAS WHERE SMOKING IS PROHIBITED UNDER THIS SECTION;~~

16 ~~(a)(B) a private residence, unless it is used for any of the following purposes, in which case the~~
 17 ~~prohibition in subsection (1) applies:~~

18 ~~(i) a family day-care home or group day-care home, as defined in 52-2-703 and licensed pursuant to Title~~
 19 ~~52, chapter 2, part 7;~~

20 ~~(ii) an adult foster care home, as defined in 50-5-101 and licensed pursuant to Title 50, chapter 5; or~~

21 ~~(iii) a health care facility, as defined in 50-5-101 and licensed pursuant to Title 50, chapter 5;~~

22 ~~(b)(C) a private motor vehicle;~~

23 ~~(c)(D) school property in which smoking is allowed pursuant to the exception in 20-1-220;~~

24 ~~(d)(E) a hotel or motel room designated as a smoking room and rented to a guest; however, not more~~
 25 ~~than 20% 35% of the rooms available to rent to guests may be designated as smoking rooms; AND~~

26 ~~(e) a private or semiprivate room in a long-term care facility, as defined in 50-5-101 and licensed~~
 27 ~~pursuant to Title 50, chapter 5, that is occupied by one or more individuals, all of whom are smokers and have~~
 28 ~~requested in writing to be placed in a room where smoking is permitted and from which smoke does not infiltrate~~
 29 ~~to other parts of the facility where smoking is prohibited pursuant to this part; and~~

30 ~~(f) a room or other space used for bona fide, traditional, American Indian ceremonial purposes in~~

1 ~~connection with the practice of a traditional Indian religion.~~

2 (F) A SITE THAT IS BEING USED IN CONNECTION WITH THE PRACTICE OF CULTURAL ACTIVITIES BY AMERICAN
 3 INDIANS THAT IS IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE AMERICAN INDIAN RELIGIOUS FREEDOM ACT, 42 U.S.C. 1996 AND 1996A."

4

5 **Section 5.** Section 50-40-108, MCA, is amended to read:

6 **"50-40-108. Enforcement.** The provisions of this part ~~shall~~ must be supervised and enforced by the
 7 department and the department's designees, local boards of health, and the boards' designees under the
 8 direction of the department."

9

10 **Section 6.** Section 50-40-201, MCA, is amended to read:

11 **"50-40-201. ~~Reservation of smoking and nonsmoking areas in work areas in local~~ Local**
 12 **government buildings -- smoking prohibited.** (1) ~~In offices and work areas in all parts of~~ buildings maintained
 13 by a political subdivision, ~~except a school or community college facility designated as tobacco-free by the board~~
 14 ~~of trustees of the school district or community college district, the governing body of the political subdivision~~
 15 ~~shall, except as provided in subsection (2), arrange nonsmoking and smoking areas in a convenient area.~~

16 ~~—— (2) The governing body of a political subdivision may designate any building maintained by it as~~
 17 ~~smoke-free~~ smoking is prohibited as provided in this section.

18 (2) Buildings owned and occupied by a political subdivision only must be smoke-free on January 1,
 19 2006. Buildings leased and occupied by a political subdivision only must be smoke-free as soon as practicable
 20 on or after January 1, 2006, but no later than July 1, 2006. In a building leased and occupied by a political
 21 subdivision and another entity, the on-the-scene manager of the political subdivision activity located in the
 22 building shall make the portions of the building occupied by the political subdivision activity smoke-free as soon
 23 as practicable after January 1, 2006, but no later than July 1, 2006, and is encouraged to work with the building
 24 owner or other tenants to make the building smoke-free.

25 (3) Restrictions ~~authorized by~~ contained in this section and imposed by the governing body apply
 26 uniformly to the employees of the political subdivision and the public."

27

28 **NEW SECTION. Section 7. Part not preemptive of stricter ordinance.** The provisions of this part
 29 ~~do not~~ preempt adoption of an ordinance or regulation by a political subdivision that is stricter than the provisions
 30 of this part as to a place in which the ordinance or regulation applies or as to the penalty or remedy imposed for

1 violation of the ordinance or regulation.

2

3 NEW SECTION. SECTION 8. PENALTIES. (1) IT IS UNLAWFUL FOR A PERSON TO SMOKE IN ANY AREA WHERE
 4 SMOKING IS PROHIBITED UNDER 20-1-220 OR 50-40-104. A PERSON WHO VIOLATES 20-1-220 OR 50-40-104 IS GUILTY
 5 OF A MISDEMEANOR AND SHALL BE SUBJECT TO A FINE OF NOT LESS THAN \$25 OR MORE THAN \$100.

6 (2) A PERSON WHO OWNS, MANAGES, OPERATES, OR OTHERWISE CONTROLS A PUBLIC PLACE OR PLACE OF
 7 EMPLOYMENT AND WHO FAILS TO COMPLY WITH THE PROVISIONS OF TITLE 50, CHAPTER 40, IS GUILTY OF A MISDEMEANOR
 8 AFTER A THIRD VIOLATION WITHIN A 3-YEAR PERIOD AND SHALL BE WARNED, REPRIMANDED, OR PUNISHED AS FOLLOWS:

9 (A) A WARNING FOR THE FIRST VIOLATION;

10 (B) A WRITTEN REPRIMAND FOR A SECOND VIOLATION; AND

11 (C) WITHIN ANY 3-YEAR PERIOD, A FINE OF:

12 (i) \$100 FOR A THIRD VIOLATION;

13 (ii) \$200 FOR A FOURTH VIOLATION; AND

14 (iii) \$500 FOR A FIFTH OR SUBSEQUENT VIOLATION.

15 (3) PENALTIES IMPOSED UNDER THIS SECTION MAY NOT BE CONSIDERED BY THE DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE FOR
 16 THE PURPOSES OF 16-4-401 OR BY THE DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE FOR THE PURPOSES OF 23-5-119, 23-5-177, OR
 17 23-5-611(1)(A) OR (1)(C).

18

19 NEW SECTION. Section 9. Rulemaking required. The department shall adopt rules to implement
 20 this part.

21

22 NEW SECTION. Section 10. Repealer. Sections 7-1-120, 50-40-105, 50-40-106, 50-40-107,
 23 50-40-109, 50-40-202, 50-40-203, and 50-40-207, MCA, are repealed.

24

25 NEW SECTION. Section 11. Notification to tribal governments. The secretary of state shall send
 26 a copy of [this act] to each tribal government located on the seven Montana reservations and to the Little Shell
 27 band of Chippewa.

28

29 NEW SECTION. Section 12. Codification instruction. [~~Sections 7 and 8~~] [SECTIONS 7 THROUGH 9] are
 30 intended to be codified as an integral part of Title 50, chapter 40, part 1, and the provisions of Title 50, chapter

1 40, part 1, apply to ~~[sections 7 and 8]~~ [SECTIONS 7 THROUGH 9].

2

3 ~~NEW SECTION. **Section 12. Severability.** If a part of [this act] is invalid, all valid parts that are~~
4 ~~severable from the invalid part remain in effect. If a part of [this act] is invalid in one or more of its applications,~~
5 ~~the part remains in effect in all valid applications that are severable from the invalid applications.~~

6

7 NEW SECTION. **SECTION 13. NONSEVERABILITY.** IT IS THE INTENT OF THE LEGISLATURE THAT EACH PART OF
8 [THIS ACT] IS ESSENTIALLY DEPENDENT UPON EVERY OTHER PART, AND IF ONE PART IS HELD UNCONSTITUTIONAL OR
9 INVALID, ALL OTHER PARTS ARE INVALID.

10

11 NEW SECTION. **SECTION 14. TERMINATION.** [SECTION 7] TERMINATES SEPTEMBER 30, 2009.

12

- END -